# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

SOPHIE LAU, an individual; JEFFREY LAU, an individual, GOOD EARTH ENTERPRISES, INC., a California Corporation, and LIG LAND DEVELOPMENT, LLC, a California Limited Liability Company,

Appellants,

v.

CITY OF LAS VEGAS, a political subdivision of the State of Nevada, CAROLYN GOODMAN, as Mayor of the City of Las Vegas, CITY OF LAS VEGAS DEPARTMENT OF BUILDING & SAFETY. CODE ENFORCEMENT DIVISION. department of the City of Las Vegas, VICKI OZUNA, Code Enforcement Manager; EMILY WETZSTEIN, Code Enforcement Assistant; KEVIN MCOSKER, director, Building and Safety department, JOHN BOYER, as City of Las Vegas Council Designee; DOES I through X.

# I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Action involves an appeal from a Petition for Judicial Review relating to the fines and penalties imposed against Appellants SOPHIE LAU, JEFFREY LAU, GOOD EARTH ENTERPRISES, INC. ("Good Earth") and LIG LAND DEVELOPMENT, LLC ("LIG") (collectively referred to as "Appellants") by Respondents CITY OF LAS VEGAS, CAROLYN GOODMAN, CITY OF LAS VEGAS DEPARTMENT OF BUILDING & SAFETY CODE ENFORCEMENT DIVISION, VICKI OZUNA, EMILY WETZSTEIN, KEVIN MCOSKER and JOHN BOYER (collectively referred to as "Respondents").

On November 18, 2019, the Respondents issued a Decision (the "Administrative Decision") providing that Appellants were responsible for paying approximately \$110,000 for abatement fees, fines, and administrative costs in the following cases: 1. Case Number CE-195118 (the "El Cid Case"), pertaining to the property located 233 S. 6<sup>th</sup> Street, Las Vegas, Nevada 89101(APN 139-34-611-037) ("El Cid"), 2. Case Number CE-195119 (the "Annex Case"), pertaining to the property located 232 S. 7<sup>th</sup> Street, Las Vegas, Nevada 98101 (APN 139-34-611-036) (the "El Cid Annex"), and 3. Case Number CE-195540 (the "MI Matter") pertaining to the properties located at 615 E. Carson, Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 (139-34-611-041) (referred to as the "MI Property"). (Vol.10086-0091). On December 11, 2019, Appellants filed a Petitioner for Judicial Review and/or Writs of Certiorari,

- 3. Whether the District Court abused its discretion in determining that a portion of the Respondents' imposed fees for abatement were reasonable and necessary.
- 4. Whether the District Court abused its discretion in determining that the imposed fines and fees against the Appellants were reasonable and in accordance with applicable law.

# IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This Appeal arises from a District Court's review of an administrative decision by the Respondents to impose abatement fees and fines against the Appellants. The abatement fees and fines were related to several buildings that Appellants owned in downtown Las Vegas, Nevada. Due to vagrancy and fires, the Respondents requested that Appellants demolish these buildings. (Vol. I 0086-0091). The underlying administrative hearing was brought by Respondents to recover fees incurred in securing these properties and fine the Appellants for failure to abide by certain notices that Respondents gave to Appellants. (Vol. I 0086-0091).

At the conclusion of the Administrative Hearing, the Designee issued an Order granting the relief that the Respondents had requested. (Vol. I 0086-0091). Per the Order, the Designee fined the Appellants the following:

Revised Demolition Notice and Order to Comply. (Vol. IX 0015-0021). More specifically, the District Court modified the fines as follows:

Property	Lien for Out of Pocket	Lien for Civil Penalties
I Pr	Costs	I make the second
El Cid	\$22,624.70	\$7,750.00
Annex Case	\$924.00	\$7,000.00
MI Properties	\$23,330.00	\$150.00

On March 29, 2021, Appellants filed their Notice of Appeal.

# V. STATEMENT OF FACTS

# 1. History of Properties

Appellants SOPHIE LAU and JEFFREY LAU are the owners of LIG and GOOD EARTH, which own the Subject Properties. (Vol. I 0058-0063, Vol. IV 0294-0299, Vol. V 0327-0332). Until 2006, 233 S. 6<sup>th</sup> Street was the location of the El Cid Hotel and 232 S. 7<sup>th</sup> Street was the El Cid Annex. (Vol. II 0120-0132). 615 E. Carson Ave. was known as MI. (Vol. III 0178). From 2006 until 2109, these buildings were vacant. While these buildings were vacant, the Appellants hired Robert Mann to serve as the caretaker for these buildings. In February 2019, the Respondents notified Appellants that Mr. Mann could no longer be on the properties. (Vol. III 0197).

#### I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Action involves an appeal from a Petition for Judicial Review relating to the fines and penalties imposed against Appellants SOPHIE LAU, JEFFREY LAU, GOOD EARTH ENTERPRISES, INC. ("Good Earth") and LIG LAND DEVELOPMENT, LLC ("LIG") (collectively referred to as "Appellants") by Respondents CITY OF LAS VEGAS, CAROLYN GOODMAN, CITY OF LAS VEGAS DEPARTMENT OF BUILDING & SAFETY CODE ENFORCEMENT DIVISION, VICKI OZUNA, EMILY WETZSTEIN, KEVIN MCOSKER and JOHN BOYER (collectively referred to as "Respondents").

On November 18, 2019, the Respondents issued a Decision (the "Administrative Decision") providing that Appellants were responsible for paying approximately \$110,000 for abatement fees, fines, and administrative costs in the following cases: 1. Case Number CE-195118 (the "El Cid Case"), pertaining to the property located 233 S. 6<sup>th</sup> Street, Las Vegas, Nevada 89101(APN 139-34-611-037) ("El Cid"), 2. Case Number CE-195119 (the "Annex Case"), pertaining to the property located 232 S. 7<sup>th</sup> Street, Las Vegas, Nevada 98101 (APN 139-34-611-036) (the "El Cid Annex"), and 3. Case Number CE-195540 (the "MI Matter") pertaining to the properties located at 615 E. Carson, Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 (139-34-611-041) (referred to as the "MI Property"). (Vol. I 0086-0091). On December 11, 2019, Appellants filed a Petitioner for Judicial Review and/or Writs of Certiorari,

Mandamus and Equitable Relief in the Eighth Judicial District. (Vol. 1 0001-0025). On February 2, 2020, the Honorable Judge Peterson heard Petitioners' Petition for Judicial Review and on March 2, 2021 issued a Decision and Order Granting Partial Relief (the "District Court Order") in which the fines were reduced but not eliminated. (Vol. IX 0001-0021). On March 29, 2021, Appellants filed the Notice of Appeal. This appeal is from a final order.

#### II. ROUTING STATEMENT

The matter appears to be properly presumptively retained by the Nevada Supreme Court per Nevada Rules of Appellate Procedure ("NRAP") 17(a)(11) for matters raising as a principal issue of question of first impression involving what procedures a governmental administrative agency must abide by during an administrative hearing.

# III. STATEMENT OF ISSUES FOR REVIEW

Appellants respectfully submits the following Statement of Issue for Review:

- 1. Whether the District Court abused its discretion in determining that the Respondents did not act arbitrarily and capriciously and without substantial evidence in finding against Appellants and issuing fines and fees.
- 2. Whether the District Court abused its discretion in determining that the Respondents did not violate Appellants' due process rights.

- 3. Whether the District Court abused its discretion in determining that a portion of the Respondents' imposed fees for abatement were reasonable and necessary.
- 4. Whether the District Court abused its discretion in determining that the imposed fines and fees against the Appellants were reasonable and in accordance with applicable law.

# IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This Appeal arises from a District Court's review of an administrative decision by the Respondents to impose abatement fees and fines against the Appellants. The abatement fees and fines were related to several buildings that Appellants owned in downtown Las Vegas, Nevada. Due to vagrancy and fires, the Respondents requested that Appellants demolish these buildings. (Vol. I 0086-0091). The underlying administrative hearing was brought by Respondents to recover fees incurred in securing these properties and fine the Appellants for failure to abide by certain notices that Respondents gave to Appellants. (Vol. I 0086-0091).

At the conclusion of the Administrative Hearing, the Designee issued an Order granting the relief that the Respondents had requested. (Vol. I 0086-0091). Per the Order, the Designee fined the Appellants the following:

Property	Lien for Out of Pocket	Lien for Civil Penalties
	Costs	
El Cid	\$22,624.70	\$32,000.00
Annex Case	\$924.00	\$30,000.00
MI Properties	\$23,330.00	\$150.00

In reaching the decision, the Designee committed an abuse of discretion by not taking into consideration that Appellants had complied with three of the four requirements. Furthermore, the Designee made several incorrect legal presumptions regarding Appellants standing to appear at the proceeding and took into consideration evidence presented by the Respondents after the Administrative Hearing was concluded. Subsequently, the Appellants filed a Petition for Review with the Eighth Judicial District Court based on the argument that the Designee committed an abuse of discretion.

On February 2, 2021, the District Court heard Appellants' Request for Hearing on Petition for Judgment Review for Hearing on Petition for Judicial Review and/or Writs of Certiorari, Mandamus and Equitable Relief. (Vol. IX 0022—0041). On March 2, 2021, the District Court issued a Decision and Order Granting Partial Relief. (Vol. IX 0015-0021). The District Court reduced the fines and penalties against Appellants to \$61,628.70 finding that Appellants had substantially complied with the conditions imposed on the City of Las Vegas'

Revised Demolition Notice and Order to Comply. (Vol. IX 0015-0021). More specifically, the District Court modified the fines as follows:

Property	Lien for Out of Pocket	Lien for Civil Penalties
	Costs	
El Cid	\$22,624.70	\$7,750.00
Annex Case	\$924.00	\$7,000.00
MI Properties	\$23,330.00	\$150.00

On March 29, 2021, Appellants filed their Notice of Appeal.

# V. <u>STATEMENT OF FACTS</u>

# 1. History of Properties

Appellants SOPHIE LAU and JEFFREY LAU are the owners of LIG and GOOD EARTH, which own the Subject Properties. (Vol. I 0058-0063, Vol. IV 0294-0299, Vol. V 0327-0332). Until 2006, 233 S. 6<sup>th</sup> Street was the location of the El Cid Hotel and 232 S. 7<sup>th</sup> Street was the El Cid Annex. (Vol. II 0120-0132). 615 E. Carson Ave. was known as MI. (Vol. III 0178). From 2006 until 2109, these buildings were vacant. While these buildings were vacant, the Appellants hired Robert Mann to serve as the caretaker for these buildings. In February 2019, the Respondents notified Appellants that Mr. Mann could no longer be on the properties. (Vol. III 0197).

On or about December 6, 2018, the Respondents inspected El Cid and then sent requests for abatement quotes to contractors on December 10, 2018, which were due December 17, 2018. (Vol. I 0099-0100 - Vol. II 0101-0105). However, there is no evidence in the record that notice of abatement was sent to Appellants pursuant to LVMC § 9.04.050(B). Instead, the El Cid Case Report indicates that someone gave verbal notice to Mr. Mann on or about December 6, 2018.

Unfortunately, on December 17, 2018, there was a fire at El Cid and the Annex properties. (Vol. I 0099-0100 - Vol. II 0101-0105). Respondents hired contractor CGI to begin abatement on or about December 19, 2018 and the abatement was completed on or about December 20, 2018. (Vol. I 0099-0100 - Vol. II 0101-0105).

On January 8, 2019, the El Cid Case Report states that "44" posted Notice and Order on "front building board." (Vol. I 0099-0100 - Vol. II 0101-0105). This is not adequate notice under Las Vegas Municipal Code ("LVMC") § 9.04.050 (B), which specifically states "A notice of violation may be served ... by posting the notice in a conspicuous place on the property; provided however, that service by posting shall only be used when the authorized official cannot determine the last known address of the owner or responsible party." The addresses for Good Earth Enterprises, Inc. is in San Francisco, California and the ownership has not changed

in many years. (Vol. I 0058-0063, Vol. IV 0294-0299, Vol. V 0327-0332). Any proper notice needed to be sent to Good Earth Enterprise, Inc.

The Case Report also indicates that on January 8, "44" spoke to Bob Mann (the owner representative) and obtained Mr. Mann's address. (Vol. I 0099-0100 - Vol. II 0101-0105). Ostensibly, Mr. Mann as owner representative, whose address was known at least as of January 8, 2019, could have been considered a responsible party to whom notice was appropriate. (Vol. I 0099-0100 - Vol. II 0101-0105).

The Respondents state in their "Staff Report," that it provided notice to Owner on January 10, 2019, for the El Cid Annes Property. (Vol. VII 0112-0119). However, it makes no mention of how the Respondents provided notice to Owner. The Staff Report is silent on that subject, and there is no evidence of notice being sent certified mail with return receipt requested, or personally served.

From the notices provided by the Respondents, there is no indication which dates incurred penalties. It was until the Administrative Hearing that Appellants learned from Respondents that fines were assessed at \$1,000 a day from January 18, 2019 to February 20, 2019 for El Cid (\$32,000) and from January 20, 2019 to February 20, 2019 for the Annex (\$30,000). (Vol. III 0201-0202, discussing that penalties started on the 11<sup>th</sup> day after the Notice and Order until the City Council Meeting on February 20, 2019).

The limited documentation that the Respondents provided for the Administrative Hearing is even more limited for the MI Property. All that exists is a case report (Vol. VI 0056), an almost illegible invoice from Junkman for \$20,000 that does not have any breakdown of costs or work performed (Vol. V 0324), and Notice of Hearing Dated August 8, 2019. (Vol. VI 0058). Based upon the documents submitted, no notice was ever provided to Owner.

After the fire occurred at the MI property, on or about February 22, 2019, the Respondents found the owner of record through the California Secretary of State's website, but never tendered notice to Owner. (Vol. VII 0062-0064). Instead, Respondents proceeded with an alleged "Emergency Board Up" on February 25, 2019. (Vol. VII 0062-0064). There is no evidence whatsoever that the Respondents posted Notice of Hearing at the MI Property, personally served it, or sent it to anyone via certified mail, return receipt requested under LVMC § 9.04.050.

# 2. Prior to the Administrative Hearing

On or about September 17, 2019, during a telephone call with Respondent OZUNA, then-counsel for Appellants requested all of the documentary evidence that the Respondents planned to introduce at the Administrative Hearing and requested the hearing be continued to allow for the exchange of documents that the parties intended to use. Respondent OZUNA indicated that she had already continued the

Administrative Hearing for approximately seven months and was not inclined to continue the hearing again. Appellants' request for documents was also made in writing via e-amil dated September 17, 2019. (Vol. VI 0038). On September 18, 2019 between 4:58 and 5:00 p.m., Respondents' office provided Appellants' counsel with six separate e-mails that contained all of the written evidence that the Respondents planned ot introduce at the Hearing. (Vol. VI 0038-0060- Vol. VII 0061-0140- Vol. VIII 0141-0201).

# 3. Administrative Hearing

The Administrative Hearing was held on September 25, 2019 and was overseen by City Council designee John Boyer ("Designee" or "Mr. Boyer"). For the Respondents, Respondents VICKI OZUNA, Code Enforcement Section Manager and EMILY WETZSTEIN, Administrative Support Assistant appeared, and Appellants were represented by Leo Flangas and Ben La Luzerne; SOPHIE LAU appeared as owner of Appellants LIG LAND DEVELOPMENT and GOOD EARTH ENTERPRISES, INC., and Robert Mann appeared as a witness for Appellants. (Vol. III 0176).

At the hearing, Appellants argued that the fees and fines for abatement necessarily must be predicated upon proper notice under LVMC § 9.04.050 and that the Respondents had failed to show that it followed the requirements for such

notices. When Appellants raised such deficiencies, the Respondents acknowledged that they had not provided Appellants with all of the documents related to this dispute and offered to continue the Hearing to another date. (Vol. III 0191). However, because Appellant SOPHIE LAU is elderly and had traveled from San Francisco to Las Vegas to attend this hearing in person, the Appellants requested that the Administrative Hearing proceed as scheduled. (Vol. III 0193). After the conclusion of the hearing, Respondents provided supplemental exhibits to the Designee. (Vol. I 0090).

The Administrative Hearing focused on two notices. The January 7, 2019 Notice and Order for the El Sid Property and the January 10, 2019 Notice and Order for the El Cid Annex Property and whether Appellants complied with these Notices. (Vol. V 0341-0355). The January 7, 2019 Notice and Order required compliance by January 18, 2019 and the January 10, 2019 Notice and Order required compliance by January 22, 2019. (Vol. V 0341-0355). Both notices required the following items to be completed:

- 1. Remove all palm tree landscaping from the property to prevent access into the building.
- 2. Hire a licensed security firm to provide 24 hour security to prevent access into the substandard/dangerous building.
- 3. Fence the entire perimeter of the Property with security fencing to prevent access into the building.

4. Contact City Code Enforcement and propose and agree upon an action plan and timeframe acceptable to City for you to hire a Nevada licensed contractor to obtain all required demolition permits no later than sixty (60) days from the date of this Notice, demolish the building, and remove all demolition debris, refuse and waste from the Property.

During the Administrative Hearing, Appellants testified that they had attempted to comply with all four requirements contained in the notices. For purposes of simplicity, the four requirement are separated as follows: (1) removal of palm trees, (2) 24-hour security, (3) Perimeter Fence and (4) Demolition.

#### **Palm Tree Removal**

The parties agreed during that the palm trees were timely removed before January 18, 2019. (Vol. III 0216: 1803-1839).

# 24- hour Security

During the administration hearing there was a disagreement on whether the notice required that security be onsite for 24 hours a day. Appellants testified that initially they were under the impression that they initially only had to hire security to periodically inspect the property. However, once Appellants were advised that the Respondents wanted onsite security, Appellants hired 24-hour onsite security. (Vol. III 0216:1841- 0223:2137).

#### **Perimeter Fence**

The parties agreed that the perimeter fencing was not installed until February 21, 2019 when the properties were being prepared for demolition. (Vol. III 0224:2202).

# **Demolition**

During the Administrative Hearing, the parties disagreed on whether the notices required that Appellants provide Respondents notice of their intent to demolish the properties without ten days of receiving the notice and whether the notice required that the buildings be demolished within sixty days or whether Appellants merely had to have started the process of demolishing the buildings within sixty days. (Vol. III 0225:209-0231:2514).

Appellants testified that within 10 days of receiving the Notices they advised the Respondents that they were in process of entering into a contract with a contractor to demolish the buildings and had hired a contractor to begin the demolition within sixty days of receiving the Notice. (Vol. III 0225:209-0231:2514).

After the Hearing, the Designee contacted Appellants to inquire as to the business entities' standing with the Nevada Secretary of State. (Vol VIII 0203-0204). Appellants responded by admitting that the business entities were not in good

standing however good standing was not a prerequisite to defending an action to impose a lien against real property. (Vol II 0203-0204).

# 4. Abatement Hearing and Lien Approval Decision (the "Designee's Decision")

On November 11, 2019, the Designee issued his Amended Decision Cases 1955410, 195118, 19519 Abatement Hearing and Lien Approval Decision ("Administrative Order"). (Vol. I 0086-0091). Per the Order, the Designee fined the Appellants the following:

Property	Lien for Out of Pocket	Lien for Civil Penalties
	Costs	
El Cid	\$22,624.70	\$32,000.00
Annex Case	\$924.00	\$30,000.00
MI Properties	\$23,330.00	\$150.00

As part of this Administrative Order, the Designee held that Appellant LAU was not allowed to appear in the proceedings as a representative. (Vol. I 0089). Furthermore, the Designee acknowledges that he considered evidence presented to him after the conclusion of the hearing. (Vol. I 0090).

#### 5. District Court Case

On December 11, 2019, Appellants filed a Petition for Review with the Eighth Judicial District Court. (Vol. I 0001-0025). On February 2, 2021, the Honorable Judge Peterson heard Appellants' Request for Hearing on Petition for Judgment

Review for Hearing on Petition for Judicial Review and/or Writs of Certiorari, Mandamus and Equitable Relief. (Vol. IX 0022-0041). After hearing arguments from both sides, Judge Peterson stated:

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