IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

SOPHIE LAU, an individual; JEFFREY LAU, an individual; GOOD EARTH ENTERPRISES, INC., a California Corporation; and LIG LAND DEVELOPMENT, LLC, a California Limited Liability Company,

Appellants/Cross-Respondents,

Electronically Filed Sep 16 2021 06:56 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

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

On appeal, this Court should engage in the same type of review of Designee's penalties assessment as required of the District Court and use the same guiding principles. See, Brocas, 109 Nev. at 582-83, 854 P.2d at 864.

While set forth above, the detailed and instructive principles from <u>Brocas</u> are worth repeating:

This court's role in reviewing an administrative decision is identical to that of the district court: to review the evidence presented to the agency in order to determine whether the agency's decision was arbitrary or capricious and was thus an abuse of the agency's discretion. United Exposition Service Co. v. SIIS, 109 Nev. 421, 851 P.2d 423 (1993); Titanium Metals Corp. v. Clark County, 99 Nev. 397, 399, 663 P.2d 355, 357 (1983). This standard of review is codified in NRS 233B.135. It is well recognized that this court, in reviewing an administrative agency decision, will not substitute its judgment of the evidence for that of the administrative agency. State. Dep't of Mtr. Vehicles v. Becksted, 107 Nev. 456, 458, 813 P.2d 995, 996 (1991). This court is limited to the record below and to a determination of whether the administrative body acted

arbitrarily or capriciously. <u>State Emp. Sec. Dep't v. Weber</u>, 100 Nev. 121, 124, 676 P.2d 1318, 1320 (1984). The central inquiry is whether **substantial evidence** in the record supports the agency decision. <u>SIIS v. Christensen</u>, 106 Nev. 85, 87-88, 787 P.2d 408, 409 (1990). Substantial evidence is that which a reasonable mind might accept as **adequate** to support a conclusion.

Brocas, 109 Nev. at 582-83, 854 P.2d at 864 (emphasis added).

Based upon the <u>Brocas</u> principles, this Court should affirm the Designee's determination of penalties if there was <u>any valid basis</u> -- even just one -- for Designee's decision regarding penalties. In fact, several valid bases exist as adequately demonstrated by the evidence which Designee received and summarized in his written Decision. A brief summary of that evidence demonstrates the bases for Designee's Decision and assessment of penalties:

- The case concerned three (3) dilapidated buildings in downtown

 Las Vegas owned by property owners;
- The buildings were across the street from Las Vegas High School where high school students attended school and passed by;
- Two (2) of the above buildings property owners had owned since 1993;
- During property owners' ownership, City Code Enforcement had been involved in seven (7) abatement cases at the 233 South 6th Street property and thirteen (13) concerning the 232 South 7th property;

- None of the buildings had been occupied or maintained by property owners in over ten (10) years;
- All of the buildings were declared imminent hazards by City Respondents;
- Over the course of decades, property owners allowed these structures to decay and become safety and fire hazards and abandoned urban blight attractive only to vagrants, criminals, drug users, and the homeless;
- The repeat issues at the properties required intervention by both the City Fire Department and the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department on several occasions;
- In December 2018, two (2) separate fires broke out that endangered the lives of numerous homeless individuals that property owners allowed by their inaction to reside in an uninhabitable building;
- City Respondents then had to initiate a boarding up of these structures to protect the health, safety, and welfare of the community;
- City then gave property owners notice in January 2019 that they were operating these structures as a public nuisance that must be immediately remedied pursuant to LVMC 9.04.010. Property owners failed to fully and

timely do so, resulting in civil penalties, as well as the costs and fees, incurred for the emergency nuisance abatement / boarding up;

- The El Cid property was so dangerous that City required it to be demolished and so ordered property owners. Because property owners delayed and did not act, City Respondents were substantially along in the process of making arrangements to have the demolition done by its retained contractors before property owners finally took action to avoid City doing the demolition itself;
- Property owners did not have 24 hour security provided by a licensed security firm to prevent access into the substandard/dangerous building by the respective January 18 and January 22, 2021, deadlines for the two (2) parcels at issue; and
- Designee exercised discretion by not assessing additional daily penalties on the 615 E. Carson property.

The above evidence demonstrates the severity of the public nuisances and public dangers at the properties and the long history of public nuisance conditions that property owners permitted. The evidence also demonstrates that this case was not a garden variety, minor case. It justified Designee in assessing the penalties in the amount that he ordered.

As the Court considers the substantial evidence, it should also consider **property owners' burden of persuasion**. In the <u>Irvine</u> case, this Court described an appellant's burden to prove the extent of abuse of discretion necessary to overturn the administrative acts of a municipality:

A city board acts arbitrarily and capriciously when it denies a license without any reason for doing so. In previous cases, e.g. *Henderson*, we have spoken in terms of there being a 'lack of substantial evidence before the council'; but the essence of the abuse of discretion, of the arbitrariness or capriciousness of governmental action in denying a license application, is most often found in an apparent absence of any grounds or reason for the decision. 'We did it just because we did it.'

<u>Irvine</u>, 102 Nev. at 279-80, 721 P.2d at 372-73 (emphasis added; internal citation omitted).

If one seeking such a privilege can show that the city board . . . acted in a manner that was arbitrary (baseless, despotic) or capricious (caprice: 'a sudden turn of mind without apparent motive; a freak, whim, mere fancy'), then the board is said to be abusing its discretion.

Id., at 278-79 (emphasis added).

When <u>Irvine</u> is considered, it is evident that property owners did not meet their burden (which property owners admit on page 18 of their Second Amended Brief is <u>arduous</u>) to prove that Designee's decision to assess the penalties amount was done in "an apparent absence of any ground or reason" or done "just because." <u>See, Irvine</u>, 102 Nev. at 279-80, 721 P.2d at 372-73. Designee considered a compelling number and range of facts to justify the penalties assessed as set forth above.

The <u>Irvine</u> case demonstrates that for Designee's Decision to be arbitrary for purposes of judicial review, this Court would have to conclude that Designee's decision was baseless, despotic, a freak, mere fancy, or done "just because." <u>See, Irvine, 102 Nev. at 279-80, 721 P.2d at 372-73. Designee set forth in his Decision a valid rationale for his assessment and it constituted, at the very least, one (1) valid basis for the penalties amount. Designee's rationale was something very far from a baseless, despotic, freak, or "just because" decision.</u>

A finding that this Court may have reached a different determination on the amount of penalties to award if this Court was in Designee's position or was reviewing the record de novo would not suffice because that is not this Court's role on judicial review. See, Brocas, 109 Nev. at 582-83, 854 P.2d at 864. The record in this case is brimming with evidence that Designee decided in a fashion far from the indices of arbitrariness for purposes of judicial review.

The District Court must have decided that each Notice and Order requirement was equally important to addressing public nuisances -- which is not the case -- and that each required the same amount of effort and expense. No such evidence was in the record upon which the District Court could rely. So, the District Court's decision was flawed for being based upon information not in the record.

Tellingly, <u>property owners did not address or apply the applicable</u>

<u>standard of review</u> and supporting case law in the argument section of their Second

Amended Opening Brief before this Court. (See, Appellants' Second Amended Opening Brief, pg. 23-26). They did recite the standard of review in their brief (Id., pg. 16-18), but conveniently they did not apply it at all in their argument. Application of the standard of review leads to the conclusion that Designee's decision was supported by substantial evidence and was not an abuse of discretion.

Property owner's argument is instead the argument that a party would make to the municipal administrative decision maker (i.e. Designee), which is not the appropriate argument on review to this Court. This Court's role on appeal is not to decide what result the facts mandate as a substitute for Designee. See, Brocas, 109 Nev. at 582-83, 854 P.2d at 864. And that is precisely what property owners argue for this Court to do. They argue that because they, in their opinion, timely completed three (3) of the four (4) requirements set forth in the Notice and Orders and then a fourth requirement late, that somehow they deserve to have zero penalties assessed. (As an aside, Property owners did not support that argument with any applicable law. Nothing in LVMC Chapter 9.04 (Nuisances) provides for such a result). But, that is not the appropriate issue for the Court to consider. Analyzing that argument and determining how this Court would rule given that scenario is not this Court's role on appeal of a petition for judicial review.

Instead, this Court's role is vastly different than Designee's. This Court's role is to decide if Designee's decision was supported by substantial evidence. As

detailed above, Designee's penalty assessments were supported by substantial evidence.

As a result, and based upon the presumption that Designee's decision was valid per McKenzie, 77 Nev. at 242, 362 P.2d at 270, property owners' argument to reverse the penalties fails and should be denied.

D. DESIGNEE'S ASSESSMENTS FOR EMERGENCY BOARDING CONTRACTOR FEES AND ADMINISTRATIVE FEES WERE PROPER AND SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE.

1. El Cid Property

Property owners argue that the \$18,698 in boarding costs from contactor CGI that City Respondents incurred for the El Cid property imminent hazard boarding and related 15% administrative fee per LVMC 9.04.080(C) were improperly assessed by Designee because the El Cid property was not declared an imminent hazard before the emergency boarding abatement.

But, property owners are confusing the two (2) separate imminent hazard declarations as explained below. City Respondents did timely and properly declare the property an imminent hazard before boarding.

LVMC 9.04.080(D) provides in pertinent part:

If, in the opinion of the City Manager, or a duly authorized representative, the condition of a property constitutes an imminent hazard, the City Manager or representative may order immediate abatement of the hazard without notice. . . . Before ordering abatement under this Section, the City Manager or representative

shall first obtain the concurrence of at least one other City or public agency official. City and public agency officials that may concur with or request a designation of imminent hazard pursuant to this Section include, without limitation, the City Manager; the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department; the Southern Nevada Health District; and the Departments of Fire and Rescue, Public Works, Planning, Public Safety, and Parks and Recreation. . . . Any costs and expenses incurred, and any fees imposed, in connection with the removal of an imminent hazard may be assessed against the property or the owner in accordance with the procedure described in Section 9.04.100.

In this case, City Respondents deemed the property an imminent hazard on **December 17, 2018** due to "imminent hazard to people and property," the Department of Fire and Rescue and Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department concurred, so City Respondents hired a contractor to perform emergency action to **board the property** pursuant to LVMC 9.04.080(D). (Volume I, 0098-0100; Volume IV, 0309).

Property owners argue that the record does not indicate that City Respondents declared the El Cid an imminent hazard before the emergency boarding abatement and that the City Manager did not declare it an imminent hazard until January 31, 2019. (Appellants' Second Amended Brief, pgs. 26-29). First, the preceding paragraph demonstrates that City Respondents (who are duly authorized representatives of the City Manager) did declare the property an imminent hazard before boarding. And, property owners admit in their Second Opening Brief that the

"Code Enforcement Reports states that 'Fire and Metro'" have deemed the property is (sic) an imminent hazard,' on December 17, 2018." (Id., pg. 27).

Second, property owners appear to confuse the first imminent hazard that was declared on December 17, 2018, because of the fire on that date with the second imminent hazard declaration that the City Manager issued on <u>January 31, 2019</u>, to require the building to be <u>demolished</u>. (Volume I, 0065). The two (2) separate imminent hazard declarations concern two (2) separate situations, both of which City Respondents handled properly and in accordance with LVMC 9.04.080(D). As a result, property owners' arguments fail.

Based upon the above and the presumption that Designee's decision was valid per McKenzie, 77 Nev. at 242, 362 P.2d at 270, the record provides ample support for this Court to determine that substantial evidence supports Designee's Decision to impose the boarding expenses and fifteen percent (15%) assessment pursuant to LVMC 9.04.080.

2. MI Property

Property owners argue that for the 615 E Carson property (MI property), City Respondents' \$20,000.00 in hard costs paid to contractor Junkman to emergency board the property following a fire should not have been approved by Designee because the record does reflect an imminent hazard declaration.

But, property owners waived the right to so argue because they cut short the Designee hearing. (Volume III, 0234, line 2615 – 0235, line 2669). They did so before City Respondents could provide full information about the 615 E Carson property, including the on-site concurrence by the Las Vegas Fire & Rescue Department and Las Vegas Metropolitan Police that the property was in imminent hazard which required emergency boarding. (Id.). Because of the imminent hazard, City Respondents were justified per LVMC 9.04.080(D) in having a contractor emergency board the structure. (Id.).

The primary topics of discussion during the hearing before property owners ended it early were the other two (2) properties, 233 South 6th Street and 232 South 7th Street. Little was discussed about 615 E. Carson prior to property owners unexpectedly announcing after a break in the hearing that they were satisfied with what they had presented and would have the same arguments for "the other property." (Id., 0234, lines 2615-2616).

In addition, the record does indicate that the Fire Department considered the building an imminent hazard because right after the fire, they caused their contractor to board all first floor openings to keep squatters out, leaving the second floor openings open. (Volume II, 0154). The Fire Department's decision to board could only have been based upon a determination of imminent hazard. Therefore, substantial evidence -- which is all that is required per <u>Laughlin</u>, 111 Nev. at 558,

893 P.2d at 384 -- exists to support Designee's decision to assess the hard costs for the emergency abatement per LVMC 9.04.080(D).

3. Property Owners Waived any Argument regarding the "Back up" for Boarding Expenses Assessments by Failing to Raise it Below.

In the Alternative, Substantial Evidence Supports the Designee's Imminent Hazard Boarding Assessments.

Property owners erroneously assert that both the El Cid imminent hazard boarding expense assessment based upon the CGI invoice and the MI property imminent hazard boarding expense assessment based upon the Junkman invoice are unsubstantiated.

But, property owners' claims were not argued to the District Court, so they should not be considered by this Court.

A point not urged in the trial court, unless it goes to the jurisdiction of that court, is deemed to have been waived and will not be considered on appeal.

Old Aztec Mine, Inc. v. Brown, 97 Nev. 49, 52, 623 P.2d 981, 983 (1981).

"Arguments raised for the first time on appeal need not be considered." Montesano v. Donrey Media Grp, 99 Nev. 644, 650 n.5, 668 P.2d 1081, 1085 (1983).

Because property owners did not raise their argument about unsubstantiated assessments below, this Court should not consider said claims.

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